NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Toledo Edison Company Docket No. 50-346

As a result of the inspection conducted on November 12 through December 6,
1985, and in accordance with the “General Policy and Procedures for NRC
Enforcement Actions," 10 CFR Part 2, Appendix C (1985), the following
violation was identified:

10 CFR 50, Appendix B, Criterion V, as implemented by Toledo Edison Company
Nuclear Quality Assurance Manual and Nuclear Quality Assurance Procedure,
requires activities affecting quality be accomplished in accordance with
documented procedures.

Contrary to the above, the Bechtel engineering evaluations for Toledo Edison
Company site QC issued Nonconformance Reports No. 85-0254 and No. 85-0256 for
pipe anchors No. A-46 and No. A-47 utilized methods and values other than the
stress allowable criteria prescribed in Bechtel Procedure MGP-04, Table 1,
Section 3.3.(b).

This is a Severity Level V violation (Supplement II).

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, you are required to submit to this
office within thirty days of the date of this Notice a written statement or
explanation in reply, including for each violation: (1) corrective action
taken and the results achieved; (2) corrective action to be taken to avoid
further violations; and (3) the date when full compliance will be achieved.
Consideration may be given to extending your response time for good cause
shown.
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Pated . J. Harrison, e
Engineering Branch
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